No. S240156

In the

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 21 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Supreme Court of the

State of California

Deputy

DON MATHEWS, M.F.T., MICHAEL ALVAREZ, M.F.T., and WILLIAM OWEN, CADC II, Plaintiffs and Appellants.

VS.

KAMALA HARRIS, in her official capacity as Attorney General of California; and JACKIE LACEY in her official capacity as the District Attorney of the county of Los Angeles and representative of the California district attorneys,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO CASE NO. B265990 (LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. BC573135)

PLAINTIFFS' OPENING BRIEF

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether, under *Hill v. National Collegiate Athletic Assn.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1, a psychotherapy patient has a constitutional right of privacy and a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding his communications with a psychotherapist under article 1, section 1 of the California Constitution and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution if such communications involve conduct that constitutes a past crime or is morally repugnant, including the viewing of child pornography.

- 2. Whether the California Legislature can permissibly amend the Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act, ("CANRA"), Penal Code section 11165.1, subdivision (c)(3) (2015), a statutory scheme intended to protect children from abuse and neglect, to require psychotherapists to report any patient conduct to law enforcement that the Legislature decides will help prosecute and deter crimes involving children because California citizens have no fundamental constitutional right to any particular form of medical treatment, including psychotherapy.
- 3. Whether the California Legislature's amendment of CANRA to require psychotherapists to report patients who view child pornography to law enforcement violates the patients' constitutional right to privacy in their psychotherapy communications under the California and U.S. Constitutions because this new reporting requirement does not substantially further and is not narrowly tailored to achieve CANRA's laudatory and compelling purpose of protecting children from abuse and neglect.

I. INTRODUCTION

Effective January 1, 2015, Assembly Bill ("A.B.") 1775 amended the Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act ("CANRA"), Penal Code section 11165.1, subdivision (c)(3) (2015), a statutory scheme intended to protect children from abuse and neglect and an exception to Evidence Code section 1014's psychotherapist-patient privilege, to now require

psychotherapists to report any patient who has viewed child pornography to law enforcement for investigation and potential criminal prosecution.

At issue in this case is whether A.B. 1775's amendment violated psychotherapy patients' constitutional right to privacy in their psychotherapy communications under article 1, section 1 of the California Constitution and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution because mandated reporting by psychotherapists of child pornography viewing by patients does not substantially further CANRA's laudatory and compelling purpose of protecting children from sexual abuse and is not narrowly tailored to do so.

In upholding the constitutionality of this CANRA amendment, the superior court and the Court of Appeal ruled that psychotherapy patients have no constitutional right of privacy or reasonable expectation of privacy in psychotherapy communications regarding the patients' past crime and morally repugnant conduct of viewing child pornography. Alternatively, the lower courts held that even if the patients posed no serious danger of sexually abusing actual children and their identification would not significantly help law enforcement to identify and rescue the children depicted in the illegal images, the State's interest in prosecuting and deterring child pornography viewers is sufficient to justify CANRA's invasion of any constitutionally right to privacy in psychotherapy communications that the patients might have.

Notwithstanding the particularly despicable and inflammatory nature of child pornography viewing or of any sexual crimes involving children, this Court should hold that patients have a constitutional right to privacy and reasonable expectation of privacy in their psychotherapy communications even if such communications involve the patients' past crimes or morally repugnant conduct, including child pornography viewing, because the efficacy of psychotherapy in treating California citizens' mental health issues, including a sexual interest in children, depends on the confidentiality of those communications.

While CANRA's compelling purpose of protecting children from abuse and neglect is an express exception to Evidence Code section 1014's psychotherapist-patient privilege, this Court should also hold that A.B. 1775's amendment of CANRA to mandate reporting by psychotherapists of patients who view child pornography violates the patients' constitutional right to privacy under the California and U.S. Constitutions because such reporting does not substantially further that purpose and is not narrowly tailored to do so based on the mere possibility that patients who view child pornography might engage in physical sexual abuse of children or that law enforcement officers might be able to identify and rescue the children depicted in the illegal images. Such attenuated and speculative justifications are constitutionally insufficient to justify the State's serious invasion of the patients' right to privacy when CANRA and existing law

already require psychotherapists to report patients who the therapists reasonably suspect are sexually abusing actual children or pose a serious danger of doing so. Further, the reporting of psychotherapy patients who have only viewed child pornography also significantly undermines the State's equally compelling interest in ensuring that citizens with mental health issues, including a sexual interest in children or in other morally repugnant behavior, have access to effective psychotherapy to treat such issues so that they do not act on their mentally unhealthy impulses. Under the Court of Appeal's interpretation of CANRA, however, the State can permissibly require psychotherapists to report teenagers who consensually transmit sexually explicit images of themselves to other teenagers even though such conduct does not fall within any conceivable definition of child sexual abuse that this statutory scheme was intended to prevent.

Since the superior court and Court of Appeals upheld the constitutionality of A.B. 1775 based on a "past crimes" exception to the patients' constitutional right to privacy in their psychotherapy communications that does not exist and an incorrect interpretation of CANRA's purpose as including the general deterrence of sexual exploitation of children through the identification and criminal prosecution of child pornography viewers, their judgments must be reversed.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 20, 2015, Plaintiffs Don Mathews, M.F.T. and Michael Alvarez, M.F.T., on behalf of their patients, and Plaintiff William Owen, CADC II, as a taxpayer, filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief seeking an order enjoining and prohibiting the Attorney General of California and the district attorneys of California from enforcing Assembly Bill ("A.B.") 1775, which amended Penal Code section 11165.1, a provision of CANRA, to require (c)(3) (2015), subdivision psychotherapists to report any patients who have viewed child pornography to law enforcement, on the ground that this law violates the patients' constitutional right to privacy regarding their confidential communications with a psychotherapist under article I, section 1, of the California Constitution and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and subjects psychotherapists to criminal prosecution and loss of their licenses if they fail to comply with this illegal reporting (See Plaintiffs' Appeal Appendix ["AA"], 1-2, ¶1-3; 13, requirement. $\P 32.)$

1. CANRA's Child Abuse Reporting Requirements

As licensed psychotherapists, Plaintiffs are subject to CANRA, which requires them to report suspected child abuse and neglect to law enforcement authorities. This statutory duty is an exception to the

psychotherapist-patient privilege set forth in Evidence Code section 1014 which broadly prevents psychotherapists from disclosing confidential psychotherapy communications without their patients' consent. (See Pen. Code§ 11171, subd. (b).)

Under CANRA, psychotherapists and other mandated reporters¹ must immediately make a report to law enforcement of known or suspected child abuse or neglect involving physical abuse (Pen. Code § 11165.6), sexual abuse (Pen. Code § 11165.1), willful harming or endangerment (Pen. Code § 11165.3), general or severe neglect (Pen. Code § 11165.2), and unlawful corporal punishment or injury. (Pen. Code § 11165.4.)² This duty to report is triggered "whenever the mandated reporter, in his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment, has knowledge of or observes a child whom the mandated reporter knows or reasonably suspects has been the victim of child abuse or neglect." (Pen.

¹ CANRA has 44 categories of mandated reporters including psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers, and MFTs. (Pen. Code § 11165.7, subd. (a)(1)-(44).)

² With the exception of certain types of sexual abuse, CANRA generally only requires the mandated reporting of known or suspected physical abuse or neglect of children. (See Pen. Code § 11165.6 [physical injury or death]; Pen. Code § 11165.6 [failure to provide food, shelter and care]; Pen. Code § 11165.3 [physical pain and endangerment]; Pen. Code § 11165.4 [cruel corporal punishment]).

Code § 11166, subd. (a).)³ The mandatory report to law enforcement must include, if known, the names and present locations of the minor and the suspected child abuser. (Penal Code §§ 11165.9, 11167, subd. (a).)

Upon receipt of a CANRA report, law enforcement authorities must investigate the reported child abuse or neglect and send a report of any substantiated child abuse or severe neglect to the California Department of Justice so that the child abuser can be listed in the state's Child Abuse Central Index ("CACI"), a statewide data base. (See Pen. Code §§ 11165.9, 11166.3, 11170; AA 6-8, ¶¶ 12-18.) The child abuse reports in CACI are not public documents, but may be released to a number of individuals and government agencies. (Pen. Code § 11167.5, subd. (b).)

The failure of Plaintiffs to report child abuse or neglect is a misdemeanor crime punishable by up to six months in prison, a fine of \$1,000, or both. (See Pen. Code § 11166, subd. (c).) In addition, their failure to comply with CANRA constitutes unprofessional conduct that could result in the suspension or revocation of their psychotherapy licenses. (See Bus. & Prof. Code § 4982, subd. (w); AA 9, \P 20.)

³ Under CANRA, a reasonable suspicion means "that it is objectively reasonable for a person to entertain a suspicion, based upon facts that could cause a reasonable person in a like position, drawing, when appropriate, on his or her training and experience, to suspect child abuse or neglect." (See Pen. Code § 11166, subd. (b).)

2. A.B. 1775's Amendment of CANRA to Mandate Reporting by Psychotherapists of Patients Who Have Viewed Child Pornography

Under CANRA, Plaintiffs and other psychotherapists must report known or suspected child sexual abuse, which is defined to include "sexual assault" or "sexual exploitation" of a child. "Sexual assault" is defined as various Penal Code sexual crimes against the person of a child, including rape, statutory rape, incest, sodomy, lewd and lascivious acts, oral copulation, sexual penetration, and molestation. (Pen. Code § 11165.1, subds. (a), (b); see Pen. Code §§ 261, 261.5, subd. (d), 264.1, 285, 286, 288, subds. (a), (b), or (c)(1), 288a, 289, 647.6.) "Sexual exploitation" is defined to include the Penal Code crimes of possession of child pornography with intent to sell, distribute or exhibit to others, employing a child to assist with such criminal activity, and knowingly employing a child to participate in prostitution, the live performance of obscene sexual acts, or child pornography. (Pen. Code §§ 311.2, 311.4, subd. (a),11165.1, subd. (c)(1), (2).) CANRA's definition of "sexual exploitation" does not include any statutory reference to child pornography possession, set forth in Penal Code section 311.11. (AA, 9-10, \P 22-23.)

Up until December 31, 2014, Penal Code section 11165.1, subdivision (c)(3) provided that "sexual exploitation" also included:

(3) A person who depicts a child in, or who knowingly develops, duplicates, prints, or exchanges, a film, photograph,

videotape, video recording, negative, or slide in which a child is engaged in an act of obscene sexual conduct.

This CANRA definition of sexual exploitation mirrors Penal Code section 311.3 which criminalizes the sexual exploitation of children.⁴

Effective January 1, 2015, the California Legislature enacted A.B. 1775 which amended Penal Code section 11165.1, subdivision (c)(3) to now require Appellants and other mandated reporters to report any person who has simply downloaded or looked at child pornography from the Internet. The amended provision provides, in relevant part:

(3) A person who depicts a child in, or who knowingly develops, duplicates, prints, downloads, streams, accesses through any electronic or digital media, or exchanges, a film, photograph, videotape, video recording, negative, or slide in which a child is engaged in an act of obscene sexual conduct.

(Pen. Code § 11165.1, subd. (c) [emphasis added].)

⁴ Section 311.3, subdivision (a) provides: "A person is guilty of sexual exploitation of a child if he or she knowingly develops, duplicates, prints, or exchanges any representation of information, data, or image, including, but not limited to, any film, filmstrip, photograph, negative, slide, photocopy, videotape, video laser disc, computer hardware, computer software, computer floppy disc, data storage media, CD-ROM, or computer-generated equipment or any other computer-generated image that contains or incorporates in any manner, any film or filmstrip that depicts a person under the age of 18 years engaged in an act of sexual conduct."

According to Plaintiffs, A.B. 1775's amendment of CANRA to now require them to report patients who have viewed child pornography over the Internet will necessarily destroy the patient trust that communications during therapy will be kept confidential. Once current patients who have admitted viewing child pornography during therapy learn that their psychotherapists must now report such activity to law enforcement for investigation, they will either cease therapy because the therapists have exposed them to criminal prosecution and public disgrace or, if they continue, are unlikely to continue providing the full disclosure of intimate details that their psychotherapists need to provide effective therapy.

Similarly, Plaintiffs also point out that persons who are seeking psychotherapy for serious sexual disorders may refuse such therapy once the psychotherapists inform them during intake screening that they are required to report any viewing of child pornography or, if the persons have already described such child pornography viewing as a reason for seeking treatment, that the therapists are now obligated to report them before any therapy even begins. Finally, existing or potential patients who have serious sexual disorders - including sexual attraction to children – will be predictably deterred from obtaining needed psychotherapy, despite the lack of any evidence that they have actually sexually abused children or pose a serious danger of doing so. (AA 14, ¶ 33.)

3. The Superior Court's Ruling on Defendants' Demurrers to the Complaint

On May 7, 2015, Attorney General Kamala Harris and Los Angeles District Attorney Jackie Lacey (on behalf of the district attorneys of California) filed demurrers to the Complaint. (See AA 6-61, 30-110).

On July 29, 2015, the Superior Court entered an order sustaining the demurrers of Attorney General Harris and District Attorney Lacey demurrers without leave to amend and dismissed Appellants' Complaint with prejudice. (See AA 157-174.) The Superior Court ruled that the issue of whether A.B. 1775 was constitutional was appropriately decided by demurrer or the functional equivalent of a motion for judgment on the pleadings because there were no material facts in dispute (see AA 163-164), and that A.B. 1775 did not violate psychotherapy patients' constitutional right to privacy under the California Constitution or U.S. Constitution as a matter of law. (See AA 165-171.)

4. The Court of Appeal's Opinion Affirming the Superior Court's Dismissal of the Complaint With Prejudice

On August 5, 2015, Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal. (AA 175-176). On January 9, 2017, the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion affirming the dismissal of Petitioners' Complaint, largely on the same grounds as the Superior Court. (*See* Appendix at 12-36).

In upholding the constitutionality of A.B. 1775, the Court of Appeal first ruled that a psychotherapy patient has no right of privacy in

psychotherapy communications regarding child pornography viewing because child pornography possession is a crime that is not protected by the constitutional right to privacy and, therefore, the "fact that a patient might share the information of his or her past criminal conduct in possessing Internet child pornography with a psychotherapist does not implicate a constitutionally protected privacy interest." (Appendix at 17-21.) According to the Court of Appeal, a patient also has no constitutional right to privacy regarding such psychotherapy communications because CANRA exempts child pornography viewing from Evidence Code 1014's statutory psychotherapist-patient privilege and "[n]o fundamental privacy interest guarantees treatment for a sexual disorder that causes a patient to indulge in the criminal conduct of viewing Internet child pornography" or gives minors "a fundamental right to produce or possess child pornography, including viewing sexually explicit images of other minors." (Appendix at 21-23). In sum, the Court of Appeal concluded that "[w]hen patients seek medical treatment for their sexual disorders, they have no legally protected privacy interest in communicating that they have downloaded, streamed or accessed child pornography from the Internet" and the "disclosures of patients within the psychotherapy relationship that they have viewed illegal child pornography on the Internet are neither protected by the privacy provisions of our Constitution nor privileged under Evidence Code section 1014." (Appendix at 23).

Second, the Court of Appeal ruled that a psychotherapy patient also has no reasonable expectation of privacy regarding his communications to a psychotherapist about viewing child pornography. According to the Court of Appeal, a patient could not reasonably expect that a psychotherapist would not report his child pornography viewing to law enforcement because such conduct is a crime and is "reprehensible, shameful and abhorred by any decent and normal standards of society" and because, in enacting CANRA, the California Legislature has "long ago determined that child abuse, including the sexual exploitation of children, should be reported to appropriate law enforcement and child welfare agencies." (Appendix at 23-24).

In addition, the Court of Appeal ruled that even if a psychotherapy patient had some expectation of privacy regarding his communications about child pornography viewing to a psychotherapist, the State's interest under CANRA in protecting children from child sexual abuse was sufficient to justify A.B. 1775's invasion of such privacy. According to the Court of Appeal, the Legislature's decision to include child pornography viewing as conduct reportable by psychotherapists was sufficient to outweigh any patient right of privacy because such viewing constitutes child sexual exploitation within the meaning of CANRA, is "proximately linked to the sexual abuse of children" and "is a most serious crime and an act repugnant to the moral instincts of a decent people." (Appendix at 26).

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