SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP - 1 2017

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

_				
1 1	~	-		+ 1
	_	1 1	H	ıν
_	v	\sim	•	• •

DON L. MATHEWS, MICHAEL L. ALVAREZ and WILLIAM OWEN Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

XAVIER BECERRA and JACKIE LACEY

Defendants and Respondents.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the Second Appellate District,
Division Two
2nd Civil No. B265990
After An Appeal From the Superior Court of Los Angeles County
Honorable Michael L. Stern, Judge
Case Number BC573135

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HURRELL CANTRALL LLP
THOMAS C. HURRELL, SBN 119876
MELINDA CANTRALL, SBN 198717
MARIA MARKOVA, SBN 233953
300 SOUTH GRAND AVENUE, SUITE 1300

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

⁸ Child pornography is often traded and exchanged on the Internet in addition to being bought and sold. (See L. Jill Rettinger, The Relationship between Child Pornography and the Commission of Sexual Offences against Children: A Review of the Literature (March 2000), available at https://ccoso.org/sites/default/files/import/Research-and-Statistics---T...pdf (Offers to trade sexually explicit pictures of children is common practice in the underworld of Internet pornography.)

⁹ The Legislature expanded section 311.3 in 1996 to "to bring California's law against obscene mater up to date with respect to the advent and use of

to have been aware of the 2001 Luera case (see, People v. Bouzas (1991) 53 Cal.3d 467, 475 [279 Cal.Rptr. 847]), upholding the conviction of a defendant under section 311.11 with possession of images of child pornography downloaded from the Internet. (Luera, supra, 86 Cal.App,4th at 518, 521-522.) In enacting AB 1775, the Legislature clearly intended to make possession or viewing of computer-generated images of child pornography reportable. (Mathews, supra, 7 Cal.App.5th at 356.)

Plaintiffs' argument also does not account for the fact that the regulation of child pornography is not primarily directed at the distribution or production of child pornography. (See, *In re Duncan* (1987) 189

Cal.App.3d 1348, 1358 [234 Cal.Rptr. 877].) The issue is not which category of prohibited conduct encompasses offenses that are most egregious or harmful to the victims. (See, *Shoemaker v. Harris* (2013) 214

Cal.App.4th 1210, 1229 [155 Cal.Rptr.3d 76].) Although patients who disclose accessing child pornography online may not necessarily prepare the images themselves or have contact with the children who were their subjects, the Legislature is entitled to classify those who possess and exchange the offending images for the purpose of their sexual stimulation

new technologies. (MJN, Exh. F, California Bill Analysis, Assembly Floor, A.B. 295 (Baldwin), August 23, 1996.)

as active participants in the perpetuation of child pornography and the exploitation of children. (*Id.* at 1230.)

Ultimately, plaintiffs have failed to establish that the prior version of section 11165.1 subdivision (c)(3) did not trigger the mandated reporter's obligation to report known or suspected instance of child abuse, including for example, a patient accessing child pornography online. (See, Tecklenburg v. Appellate Div. of Superior Court (2009) 169 Cal. App. 4th 1402, 1419, fn. 16 [87 Cal.Rptr. 3d 460] ("[A] defendant may also knowingly possess or control child pornography by actively downloading and saving it to his or her computer, by printing it or by e-mailing it."); see also, People v. Petrovic (2014) Cal.App.4th 1510, 1516 [169 Cal.Rptr.3d 648] ("By accessing the Web sites, the defendant has the ability to manipulate, download, copy, print, save, or email the images. . ."); United States v. Mohrbacher (9th Cir. 1999) 182 F.3d 1041, 1047 (Downloading is analogous to placing an order trough a mail order catalogue except that the inventory is not depleted because a new copy of the image is generated.)) Further, as this Court emphasized "there is no sense in distinguishing. . . between the producers and the consumers of child pornography...neither could exist without the other." (In re Grant, supra, 58 Cal.4th at 477-478.)

There Is No Legally Protected Privacy Interest To Seek A Particular Form Of Psychiatric Treatment.

Autonomy privacy, which plaintiffs also contend is implicated here (POB 17), generally deals with "interests in making intimate personal decisions or conducting personal activities without observation, intrusion, or interference." (*Hill, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at 35.) As the Court of Appeal correctly held, AB 1775 does not interfere with patients' right to seek treatment for sexual disorders involving the viewing of Internet child pornography. (PA 22.)

At the outset, plaintiffs attempt to obfuscate the issues by mischaracterizing the Court of Appeal's opinion in stating that "the Court of Appeal appears to be suggesting that the State can constitutionally require psychotherapists to report any patient communication that involve a crime without violating the patients' right to privacy because patients have no 'fundamental' constitutional right to any particular form of medical treatment, including psychotherapy." (POB 32-33.) However, the Court of Appeal simply affirmed that no fundamental privacy interest guarantees treatment for a sexual disorder that causes a patient to indulge in the criminal conduct of viewing Internet child pornography. (PA 22-23.) Plaintiffs' overblown claims that the Court of Appeal supposedly found that psychotherapy patients have no fundamental right to any form of medical treatment, and thus psychotherapists can be constitutionally

required to divulge *any* patient communication that involve a crime are wholly without support. (POB 32-33.)

In reviewing *People v. Younghanz* (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 811, 816 [202 Cal.Rptr. 907] (*Younghanz*)¹⁰, the Court of Appeal explained that the *Younghanz* court had rejected a contention that the mandatory disclosure in child abuse reporting statutes violated a "fundamental right to seek a cure for [] illness" guaranteed by the federal and state Constitutions. (PA 22.) To explain, the criminal defendant in *Younghanz* challenged his conviction for sexual acts with his daughter, claiming that the psychotherapist's mandatory reporting requirement violated his "fundamental" right to obtain treatment for his mental illness. (*Id.* at 815-818.) The court stated, "The right to seek a particular form of medical treatment as cure for one's illness has not been recognized as a fundamental right in California." (*Id.* at 816.) It expounded that the "important decisions" recognized by the high court "as falling within the right of privacy" include "matters relating to

¹⁰ Plaintiffs' attempt to distinguish *Younghanz* (POB 32-34) is unavailing. While the case involved a due process challenge under the California and federal Constitutions, the appellate court expressly decided the issue of whether the plaintiff had a fundamental right to seek medical or psychiatric treatment. It relied directly on this Court's decision in *People v. Privitera* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 697, 702 [153 Cal.Rptr. 431] (*Privitera*), which discussed the right of privacy under section I, article 1 of the California Constitution and held that the right to seek a particular form of medical treatment as a cure for one's illness has not been recognized as a fundamental right in California. (*Ibid.*) *Younghanz* is persuasive authority.

marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships, and child rearing and education" [citations omitted], but do not include medical treatment." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Privitiera*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d at 702.) *Younghanz's* conclusion that the realm of fundamental rights to privacy does not include medical treatment in a particular form is persuasive authority on the issue of whether a protected privacy interest exists in this case. It does not.

Next, plaintiffs incorrectly argue that Ruiz, supra, 50 Cal.4th 838, 851 and American Academy of Pediatrics v. Lungren (1997) 16 Cal.4th 307, 332-333 [66 Cal.Rptr.2d 210] expressly recognize that the right to privacy includes the right to make medical decisions "free from state interference." (POB 34.) Neither case stands for this erroneous proposition. Contrary to plaintiffs' assertions, no court has acceded to the notion that the right to privacy encompasses an affirmative right to access psychotherapy treatment (see, Privitera, supra, 23 Cal.3d at 702), and the notion was expressly rejected by this Court in *Privitera*. There, the defendants were convicted of conspiracy to sell an unapproved drug intended to alleviate cancer. The defendants argued that the statute prohibiting the sale of an unapproved cancer drug was unconstitutional because it violated the defendants' fundamental right to privacy under the federal and state Constitutions. (Id. at 921.) The court rejected the defendants' contention and concluded that "the asserted right to obtain drugs of unproven efficacy is not encompassed by either the right of

privacy embodied in either the federal or the state Constitutions." (*Id.* at 921) (emphasis in original).

In sum, the challenged AB 1775 does not implicate a fundamental autonomy right. While the mandated reporting of limited information regarding the patients "may chill patients' willingness to pursue treatment," it cannot "be said that any individual has been deprived of the right to decide," to avail himself to psychotherapy. (See, *Lewis* v. *Superior Court* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 561 [220 Cal.Rptr.3d 319] (*Lewis*).)

There Is No Reasonable Expectation Of Privacy In
 Disclosure To A Psychotherapist Of Downloading,
 Streaming Or Accessing Child Pornography.

Even if patients have a recognized privacy interest in the confidentiality of their communications with psychotherapists (Evid. Code, § 1014), patients have no reasonable expectation that information will be shielded from disclosure for the investigation of child abuse. The right to privacy protects only an individual's reasonable expectation of privacy, defined as "an objective entitlement founded on broadly based and widely accepted community norms." (*Hill, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at 37.) "A plaintiff's expectation of privacy in a specific context must be objectively reasonable under the circumstances, especially in light of the competing social interests involved[.]" (*Id.* at 26.) Custom and practice, including

background legal rules, "may create or inhibit reasonable expectations of privacy." (*Id.* at 36; *International Federation of Professional & Technical Engineers, Local 21, AFL-CIO v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 319, 331-332, 338 [64 Cal.Rptr.3d 693] (looking to widespread practices of federal, state, and local governments and conclusions in Attorney General opinions to find no reasonable expectation of privacy).)

Here, the long history of government regulation and the established practice of reporting to state agencies demonstrate that patients have no reasonable expectation that information implicating child exploitation will be shielded from disclosure. (*People v. Cook* (1985) 41 Cal.3d 373, 384 [221 Cal.Rptr. 499] (Society does not condone a reasonable expectation of privacy in criminal activity.)) "[S]ubjective expectations of privacy that society is not prepared to recognize as legitimate have no [constitutional] protection." (*People v. Reyes* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 743, 751 [80 Cal.Rptr.2d 734].)

Furthermore, existing laws have placed additional limits on the psychotherapist-patient privilege. (See, Pen. Code, § 11171.2, subd. (b) (the duty to report is **not excused or barred** by the psychotherapist-patient privilege); Evid. Code, § 1024 (dangerous patient); Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5328, subd. (r); Civ. Code, § 56.10, subd. (c)(19) (dangerous patient); see also Civ. Code, § 43.92; also see *Tarasoff*, *supra*, 17 Cal.3d 425 (dangerous patient); Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15600-15659 (elder or dependent abuse).)

These background rules along with the long-established legislative scheme designated to protect children from sexual abuse gives patients no reasonable expectation that information regarding accessing child pornography on the Internet will be shielded from authorities.

a. CANRA Mandates The Reporting Of Past Or

Present Child Abuse, Which Further Negates

Any Reasonable Expectation of Privacy.

Plaintiffs' argument that the Court of Appeal created a new "past crimes" exception (POB 30) to a patient's right to privacy regarding the confidential nature of communications to a psychotherapist completely lacks merit. CANRA is not limited to conduct which warrants *Tarasoff* warnings. Under section 11166, a mandated reporter shall make a report whenever the reporter has knowledge of a child whom the reporter knows or reasonably suspects **has been** the victim of abuse. (Pen. Code, § 11166, subd. (a).) Thus, by its very terms, the plain meaning of the statute requires a report of any instance of child abuse, and is not limited to circumstances where the reporter believes abuse may occur in the future. (*Ibid*; see also, *B.H. v. County of San Bernardino* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 168, 242 [195 Cal.Rptr.3d 220] (under CANRA, mandated reporter required to report suspicions of prior, previously unreported incident of child abuse).)

Plaintiffs cite to two cases – *People v. Gonzales* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 353 [154 Cal.Rptr.3d 38] (*Gonzales*) and *Story v. Superior Court* (2003)

109 Cal.App.4th 1007 [135 Cal.Rptr.2d 532] (Story) – in support of their erroneous extrapolation that a patient who discloses past incidents of viewing child pornography or having engaged in other forms of child abuse is entitled to full confidentiality under the psychotherapy-patient privilege. (POB 29.) Plaintiffs mischaracterize the holdings of both cases, neither of which involved CANRA or the mandated reporting of child abuse.

In *Gonzales*, this Court considered the psychotherapist-patient privilege in the context of proceedings under the Sexually Violent Predator Act ("SVPA"). The defendant, Gonzales, had been convicted of multiple sex offenses. (*Gonzales*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at 358.) Gonzales was paroled and underwent psychological treatment as a condition of parole. (*Id.* at 359.) After violating his parole, Gonzales was arrested. (*Id.* at 359-360.) The prosecution sought to subpoena Gonzales's psychological records as a parolee. (*Id.* at 361.) Gonzales objected on the basis the records were protected under the psychotherapist-patient privilege. The trial court allowed the disclosure. (*Id.* at 378.)

This Court agreed with the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the trial court erred in relying on section 1024 of the Evidence Code in ordering disclosure of the records. (*Id.* at 381.) The Court reasoned that the exception was not properly applied because the district attorney had presented no evidence that the defendant had said anything to his psychotherapist or that the psychotherapist considered it necessary to

disclose confidential communications to prevent defendant from harming anyone. (*Id.* at 381-382.) However, the Court observed that the federal constitution grants states considerable leeway to impose substantial limitations on the right to privacy. (*Id.* at 386.) Balanced against this limited intrusion of the privacy right, the court held the state has a strong interest in authorizing the disclosure and use of a parolee's prior statements that occurred in parole-mandated therapy. (*Id.* at 387-388.) The Court also held that Gonzales's federal constitutional right to the psychotherapist-patient privilege was not violated by the release of the records. (*Id.* at 388.)

In *Story*, the defendant was indicted for murder, which took place in 1976. Prior to that, the defendant underwent psychotherapy as a condition of probation for his 1974 conviction for assault with a deadly weapon. (*Story, supra*, 109 Cal.App.4th at 1010-1011.) After the defendant was indicted, the People sought release of all psychotherapy records, which defendant objected to on the basis of the psychotherapy-patient privilege. (*Ibid.*) An extraordinary writ to the court of appeal was taken. (*Id.* at 1013.) The appellate court directed the lower court to deny the People's motion for release of the defendant's psychiatric records because the People sought *full* disclosure of *all* psychotherapy records. (*Id.* at 1019.) The court reasoned that the People were not entitled to *all* records because they may include privileged information such as details of the therapy. (*Id.*)

In short, neither *Gonzales* nor *Story* support plaintiffs' erroneous proposition that admissions of *past* crimes are absolutely privileged and not subject to disclosure. There is no past crime exception for reporting child abuse under CANRA.¹¹ As plaintiffs failed to challenge the original version of CANRA which also mandated the reporting of past incidents of sexual abuse, the argument is waived. (See, *T.P. v. T.W.*, (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1428, 1440, fn. 12 [120 Cal.Rptr.3d 477] (court declined to consider argument since it was not stated under a separate heading, and it not sufficiently developed).)

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